Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Cardiology



# Novel bioabsorbable polymer and polymer-free metallic drug-eluting stents



0

JOURNAL of CARDIOLOGY

Jason Nogic (MBBS, BSci)<sup>a</sup>, Liam M. McCormick (MBBS, MD)<sup>a</sup>, Rohin Francis (MD)<sup>b</sup>, Nitesh Nerlekar (MBBS, MPH)<sup>a</sup>, Catherine Jaworski (MD)<sup>b</sup>, Nick E.J. West (MD)<sup>b</sup>, Adam J. Brown (MD, PhD)<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Monash Cardiovascular Research Centre, Monash University and MonashHeart, Monash Health, 246 Clayton Road, Clayton 3168, Victoria, Australia. <sup>b</sup> Department of Interventional Cardiology, Papworth Hospital NHS Trust, Cambridge, UK

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 August 2017 Received in revised form 16 November 2017 Accepted 4 December 2017 Available online 12 January 2018

Keywords: Drug-eluting stents Coronary artery disease Percutaneous coronary intervention Biodegradable polymer Polymer-free

# ABSTRACT

The introduction of drug-eluting stents (DES) significantly reduced angiographic restenosis and the clinical need for revascularization following percutaneous coronary intervention. However, concerns remain regarding the long-term safety and efficacy of DES. The use of durable polymers for drug elution that have limited biocompatibility is thought to contribute toward DES failure, by promoting an adverse local inflammatory response and vascular toxicity. Biodegradable polymer and polymer-free metallic stents represent two novel technological solutions to this challenging clinical problem. This review summarizes the available clinical evidence supporting the use of either biodegradable polymer or polymer-free DES platforms.

© 2018 Japanese College of Cardiology. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

Introduction	436
Concerns with drug-eluting stent use	436
Drug-eluting stent failure	436
Biodegradable polymer drug-eluting stents	436
Biomatrix	436
Nobori	437
Orsiro	437
Synergy	437
BioMime	438
DESyne BD	438
Supralimus/Infinnium	438
MiStent	438
Other BP-DES platforms	438
Effectiveness of biodegradable polymer drug-eluting stents	438
Polymer-free drug-eluting stents	438
Yukon	439
BioFreedom	440

\* Corresponding author at: Monash Cardiovascular Research Centre and MonashHeart, Monash Health, Clayton, Victoria, Australia. *E-mail address:* ajdbrown@me.com (A.J. Brown).



Review

<sup>0914-5087/© 2018</sup> Japanese College of Cardiology. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

VESTAsync	440
Drug Filled Stent (DFS)	441
Conclusions	441
Funding	441
Conflicts of interest	441
References	441

#### Introduction

Coronary stents were introduced >25 years ago in an effort to mitigate the risk of acute vessel closure and reduce recoil/early restenosis associated with 'plain old balloon angioplasty' (POBA) [1]. Although short-term procedural outcomes were improved, bare-metal stents (BMS) were prone to development of in-stent restenosis (ISR), a new entity resulting from diffuse proliferation of neointimal tissue within the stented segment [2]. Early angiographic studies of BMS found ISR rates around 25% [3], fueling the need for therapies that inhibit neointimal growth. The addition of anti-proliferative drug coatings to the metallic stent frame, carried in a permanent 'durable' polymer (DP) layer, heralded the arrival of the drug-eluting stent (DES). Anti-proliferative agents, including sirolimus and paclitaxel, were the most successful of initial attempts to prevent neointimal cellular replication by cytostatic and cytotoxic actions [4]. Early randomized trials confirmed significant reduction in rates of ISR with use of DES, principally due to significant reductions in neointimal tissue volume [5,6]. These results led to widespread adoption and use of DES, resulting in percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) becoming the most commonly performed invasive medical procedure worldwide.

#### Concerns with drug-eluting stent use

Despite clear reductions in ISR rates following DES implantation, pooled data from randomized trials suggested that rates of death and myocardial infarction (MI) at long-term follow-up were not reduced, when compared with BMS [7]. The long-term safety of DES was then questioned when registry data and meta-analyses [8,9] began demonstrating increased incidence of MI and very-late (>1 year after implantation) stent thrombosis (VLST) [10,11] with estimated annual risk of VLST approximately 0.2-0.6% and importantly not diminishing with time [12]. Although VLST remains infrequent, it is associated with very poor outcomes [13]. Furthermore, despite widespread use of DES, patients continue to experience high rates of target lesion revascularization (TLR), with studies showing that around 1 in 10 patients receiving early-generation devices required repeat procedure within 5 years [14,15]. Lack of long-term efficacy and device safety concerns, coupled with increasing urgent/emergent presentations and uncertainty of the efficacy of PCI compared with optimal guideline-driven medical therapy [16], have led to a net downturn in elective PCI procedure volume.

## Drug-eluting stent failure

DES failure is a multi-factorial process involving patientspecific, pharmacological, procedural, and mechanical/biological factors [17]. Although many of these factors cannot be modulated, precise DES implantation and optimization during implantation is crucial. Studies have consistently found that DES under-expansion is not only common, but may be associated with increased risk of ISR [18] and stent thrombosis (ST) [19]. Geographical miss, where deployed stents fail to cover the entire target plaque longitudinally, also appears to be important with such lesions often exhibiting higher rates of adverse events [20,21]. Mechanical factors, related

to the stent itself, also appear to play a role; stent fracture is associated with restenosis in  $\sim$ 60% of cases [22], and there are reports that microscopic disruption (e.g. peeling or cracking) of the polymer/drug coating may result in failure to inhibit neointimal growth and lead to restenosis [23]. Increased stent strut thickness also increases restenosis in BMS [24,25], as thick struts induce subtle alterations to coronary blood flow, resulting in low or oscillatory wall shear stress regions downstream of the strut that act to promote platelet accumulation, cytokine release, and neointimal growth [26]. Late DES failure may also be precipitated by the development of in-stent neoatherosclerosis, which can be identified through use of invasive imaging modalities including optical coherence tomography [27]. Although neoatherosclerosis appears more common following BMS [28], macrophage infiltration and necrotic core formation has been observed as early as 4 months after DES implantation [29]. As such, neoatherosclerosis remains an ongoing safety concern and further research into its mechanism and strategies to mitigate risk are required.

Delayed arterial healing, following PCI with DES, is also thought to be an important driver for adverse clinical events [30,31]. A combination of clinical, pathological, and animal studies have demonstrated that poor arterial healing, often characterized by delayed re-endothelialization, hypersensitivity, eosinophilic infiltration, and chronic inflammation, is associated with VLST [32,33]. Although the exact pathological processes underlying hypersensitivity reactions and delayed arterial healing remain obscure, one potential etiological agent implicated in this phenomenon may be the durable polymer left coating the stents when drug-elution has completed [32].

In the hope of improving clinical outcomes, considerable effort and resources have been committed into designing technologies that might negate the requirement for durable polymers in metallic DES manufacture. In effect, leaving a BMS after the time required for the drug-elution to be completed. This review will detail those platforms that are currently, or soon to be, commercially available and explore the existing clinical data supporting their use.

#### Biodegradable polymer drug-eluting stents

As DP-DES have been implicated in delayed arterial healing, developing a polymer that would disappear after drug elution may be advantageous. This was highlighted by data from the SCAAR registry, where the annual risk of VLST was lower in BMS compared with DES after 1 year [34] with several manufacturers having developed biodegradable polymer (BP)-DES over recent years. A list of existing commercially available systems can be found in Table 1, together with their material construct, drug delivered, strut thickness, and biodegradable polymer utilized where known.

#### Biomatrix

The Biomatrix DES (Biosensors Europe, Morges, Switzerland) is a thick-strut (150  $\mu$ m) 316L stainless steel stent with a coating composed of 50:50 poly-l-lactic acid (PLLA) and biolimus-A9 mix. Biolimus is approximately ten times more lipophilic than sirolimus, thereby easily crossing the cell membrane to achieve

Table	1
-------	---

Biodegradable polymer stent characteristics.

Stent name	Manufacturer	Material	Drug	Polymer	Strut thickness	Polymer degradation (months)	Drug release (months)
Biomatrix	Biosensors	316L	Biolimus A9	PLLA	120 µm	6–9	6
Biomime	Meril	CoCr	Sirolimus	PLLA and PLGA	65 µm	2	1
Cordimax	Rientech	316L	Sirolimus	PLGA	NA	NA	NA
DESyne BD	Elixir	CoCr	Novolimus	PLLA	81 µm	6–9	3
Infinnium	Sahajanand Medical Tech.	316L	Paclitaxel	Polymer blend	80 µm	NA	NA
MiStent	Micell Tech.	CoCr	Sirolimus	PLGA	64 µm	3	9
Nobori	Terumo	316L	Biolimus A9	PLLA	120 µm	6–9	6
Orsiro	Biotronik	CoCr	Sirolimus	PLLA	60 μm or 80 μm <sup>a</sup>	14	12
Supraflex	Sahajanand Medical Tech.	CoCr	Sirolimus	PLLA/PLGA	60 µm	9–12	1.5
Supralimus	Sahajanand Medical Tech.	316L	Sirolimus	Polymer blend	80 µm	2-6	1.5
Synergy	Boston Scientific	PtCr	Everolimus	PLGA	74 µm	4	3
Ultimaster	Terumo	CoCr	Sirolimus	PLGA	80 µm	4	4
316L, stainless steel; CoCr, cobalt chromium; PLLA, poly-1-lactic acid; PLGA, poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid; PtCr, platinum chromium; NA, not available. <sup>a</sup> 60 $\mu$ m for the 2.25–3.00 mm platform and 80 $\mu$ m for the 3.50–4.00 mm platform.							

therapeutic effects with low systemic exposure [35]. The platform has extensive published data confirming long-term safety and efficacy; the 1707 patient, randomized LEADERS trial [36], demonstrated that the Biomatrix stent was non-inferior to the DP-DES sirolimus-eluting platform (Cypher, Cordis, Fremont, CA, USA) at 4 years, with a target vessel failure rate of 9%. The study also hinted at longer-term benefits, with an 80% relative risk reduction for VLST in the BP-DES group, between 1 and 4 years [37]. At 5 years, the Biomatrix BP-DES stent was statistically noninferior to the DP-DES stent for the primary endpoint, a composite of cardiac death. MI. and clinically indicated TVR. with rates of 22.3% and 26.1%, respectively [38]. Within the LEADERS trial, a prespecified subgroup of patients also underwent optical coherence tomography (OCT) evaluation of strut re-endothelialization, finding that strut coverage was improved in the Biomatrix group (1.8% vs. 6.3%) [39].

#### Nobori

The second BP-DES with broad clinical data is the Nobori DES (Terumo Corporation, Tokyo, Japan), which again utilizes a PLLA polymer combined with biolimus-A9. The Nobori-1 study randomized patients, 2:1 to receive the Nobori device or paclitaxeleluting DP-DES. The study met its primary angiographic outcome of late lumen loss (LLL), with the device exhibiting superior performance  $(0.15 \pm 0.27 \text{ mm vs.} 0.32 \pm 0.33 \text{ mm}; p = 0.006)$ [40]. The Nobori-2 study, an observational prospective registry of 3067 patients extended this work, attempting to ascertain the safety and clinical outcomes for use in 'real-world' complex lesion and patient subsets, including, among others, multi-vessel disease, left-main intervention, ISR, bifurcations, and primary PCI. With long-term data available in 89.3% patients, the recently published 5-year data reported cumulative TLR and definite/probable ST rates of 5.3% and 1.1%, respectively. Between years 1 and 5 the TLR and VLST rates were 3.5% and 0.6%, respectively [41]. More recently, the COMPARE II [42] and NEXT [43] trials also showed non-inferiority of the Nobori stent at 5 years and 3 years in regard to safety and efficacy when compared to the Xience-V (Abbott Vascular, Redwood City, CA, USA) and Xience/Promus (Abbott Vascular) stents, respectively.

#### Orsiro

The Orsiro DES (Biotronik Inc., Berlin, Germany), a sirolimuseluting cobalt chromium BP-DES with strut thickness of either 60 or 80  $\mu$ m, originally succeeded in demonstrating safety in BIOFLOW-1 [44]. Following this success, BIOFLOW-II randomized 452 patients, in a 2:1 fashion in comparison with the Xience Prime (Abbott Vascular) DP-DES. Provisional results demonstrated similar in-stent LLL and target lesion failure (TLF) [45]. In the OCT subgroup, 98.3% of stent struts were reendothelialized at 9 months compared with 97.5% in the Xience Prime group. Non-inferiority was confirmed in the 2119 patient BIOSCIENCE trial [46] with results extending to 2 years demonstrating similar rates of TLF and ST between groups [47]. Interestingly, the BP-DES platform appeared to outperform Xience when utilized for ST-segment elevation MI, a predefined subgroup analysis. Although the mechanisms for this remain unclear, patients presenting with an acute coronary syndrome may exhibit impaired strut endothelialization [48] and thus a more biocompatible polymer may better facilitate arterial healing. Real-world experience with the Orsiro platform is now also available from a 1356 patient registry, showing a TLF rate of 5.1% at 1 year [49]. More recently, the large-scale BIO-RESORT study, an all-comers, real world randomized trial of 3514 patients, compared Orsiro with either Synergy (Boston Scientific, Natick, MA, USA) or Resolute Integrity (Medtronic Inc., Santa Rosa, CA, USA) DP-DES. The primary finding at 1 year was that the BP-DES were non-inferior to the DP-DES with regard to the primary endpoint of cardiac death, target vessel MI, and TVR with a risk difference of -0.7% (95%CI -2.4-1.1) [50]. Finally, the PRISON IV trial assessed Orsiro in patients with chronic total occlusions, a more complex lesion cohort; in this setting, the Orsiro BP-DES was associated with greater in-segment LLL and more frequent restenosis (8.0% vs. 2.1%, *p* = 0.028) [51].

# Synergy

The SYNERGY BP-DES (Boston Scientific) utilizes an ultra-thin stent strut design, cut from a platinum chromium alloy. The manufacturing process ensures the polymer/drug coating is only applied to the abluminal strut edge, thereby minimizing unnecessary drug load. The first-in-human clinical study, EVOLVE, recruited 291 patients in a 1:1 fashion to assess clinical and angiographic results using both the full- and half-dose everolimus formulations, when compared with the PROMUS Element DP-DES (Boston Scientific) [52]. Clinical events at 30 days and the 6-month in-stent LLL measurements were similar between groups, with similar 2-year outcomes [53]. The single-blinded EVOLVE II randomized trial demonstrated non-inferiority of the SYNERGY stent compared with PROMUS Element DP-DES at 1 year [54]; the primary endpoint of TLF was assessed in 1684 patients, and occurred in 6.7% of SYNERGY and 6.5% of PROMUS Element patients (p = 0.0005 for non-inferiority). Rates of target-vessel MI, symptom- or ischemia-driven TLR, and ST at 1 year were also equivalent. Indeed, the recently published results from the SCAAR registry of which 7886 received SYNERGY stents, again showed noninferiority compared with DP-DES [55].

# BioMime

The BioMime BP-DES (Meril Life Sciences Pvt. Ltd., Gujarat, India) is an ultra-thin strut design, utilizing a cobalt chromium alloy, sirolimus-eluting stent and demonstrated safety in the MeriT-1 first-in-human study [56]. Angiography at 8 months demonstrated a LLL of 0.15 mm [Q1–Q3, 0.09–0.33 mm], consistent with expectations. The larger non-randomized MeriT-2 study reported a TLR rate of 5.2% at 1 year. More recently, the MeriT-3 study including 1161 patients reported 12-month major adverse cardiovascular event (MACE) rates of 2.4%, and ST rates of 0.1%, comparable with other DP-DES platforms [57].

### DESyne BD

The DESyne BD (Elixir Medical Corp., Sunnyvale, CA, USA) stent is a thin strut, low profile, novolimus cobalt chromium platform with a BP coating. The EXCELLA-II multicenter study assessed the DESyne BD platform compared with the Endeavor zotarolimus DP-DES (Medtronic) [58]. Patients (n = 210) were enrolled in a 2:1 design, with 139 receiving the novolimus platform. The primary endpoint at 9 months, LLL as quantified by intravascular ultrasound (IVUS), was significantly reduced in those with the BP-DES. Clinical event rates were also similar between groups, although these findings require confirmation in a larger and more complex patient cohort. At 5-year follow-up, the DESyne BD group had significantly lower incidence of patient-oriented (HR 0.52, 95% CI: 0.32–0.87, p = 0.013) and device-oriented (HR 0.38, 95%CI: 0.17– 0.83, p = 0.011) composite endpoints, but there was no difference in cardiac death and ST between groups [59].

#### Supralimus/Infinnium

The Supralimus BP-DES and Infinnium BP-DES (Sahajanand Medical Tech., Surat, India) both utilize biodegradable polymer blends combined with sirolimus (Supralimus) or paclitaxel (Infinnium). The Supralimus BP-DES was assessed in the SERIES I study of 100 patients treated with 126 stents [60]. The primary endpoint of binary ISR in this low-risk cohort was 0% (in-stent) and 1.7% (in-segment). LLL was  $0.09 \pm 0.37$  mm with 7% MACE at 30 months. Although no cases of definite ST were seen, there was one probable and one possible case according to ARC definitions. Subsequent to this, the PAINT study randomized 274 patients to Supralimus, Infinnium or BMS in a 2:2:1 design [61]. At 9 months, in-stent LLL was reduced in both BP-DES, with a resulting reduction in TVR at 1 year. Finally, the recently published multicenter CORE registry assessed the Supralimus stent in a real world population. In 376 patients, MACE rates were found to be 1.1% with a TLR rate of 0.3% at 6 months [62].

#### MiStent

The DESSOLVE I and II trials assessed the MiStent (MiCell, Durham, NC, USA) sirolimus-eluting BP-DES and encouraging 2-year follow-up data were published [63]. DESSOLVE II compared the MiStent BP-DES with the Endeavor (Medtronic) zotarolimus-eluting DP-DES and demonstrated superiority in the primary endpoint of 9-month LLL and comparable 2-year MACE, TLF, and TVR rates [64].

#### Other BP-DES platforms

The Cordimax BP-DES (Rientech Medical, Shandong, China) is a 316L stainless steel, abluminal-coated sirolimus-eluting platform. A trial of 402 patients randomized in a 1:1 fashion compared the Cordimax BP-DES and Cypher DP-DES [65]. At 9 months, the

primary endpoint of angiographic LLL was shown to be noninferior and at 5-year follow-up, clinical results compared favorably with other studies showing trend toward decrease in MACE, TVR, and ST rates.

The Supraflex BP-DES is a sirolimus-eluting device with ultra-thin struts (60 µm) constructed from cobalt chromium alloy. It was studied in the MANIPAL-FLEX non-randomized study of 189 patients with 9-month angiographic and 12-month clinical follow-up. The primary endpoint of TLF occurred in 5.3%, with cardiac death, MI, and TLR occurring in, 1.6%, 1.6%, and 2.1% respectively. Secondary endpoints of in-stent and in-segment LLL at 9 months were  $0.18 \pm 0.23$  mm and  $0.11 \pm 0.33$  mm, making the Supraflex potentially one of the most effective BP-DES reported to date [66]. Finally, the Ultimaster BP-DES (Terumo Corporation) the next iteration of the Nobori technology, using a cobalt chromium stent with improved design and sirolimus (not biolimus A9) coating, was assessed in the CENTURY II randomized trial with safety and efficacy endpoints of TLF and device-oriented events at 9 months [67]. A total of 1123 patients were randomized in a 1:1 fashion with the Xience DP-DES. TLF rates were 4.4% for Ultimaster and 4.9% for Xience, with composite of cardiac death and MI occurring in 2.9% and 3.8% (p = 0.40), respectively. Subsequent publication of longer-term follow-up and subgroup analyses based on lesion-length, diameter, and location have shown similar non-inferior results [68–71].

#### Effectiveness of biodegradable polymer drug-eluting stents

Although early clinical trial results have been broadly favorable. the theoretical advantage offered by biodegradable polymers relates to a reduction in the risk of VLST observed with early-generation DES. Conflicting data have now emerged, based on analyses from clinical trials and registries, as to whether this goal will be realized; firstly, a pooled analysis of 4062 patients from the ISAR-Test 3, ISAR-Test 4, and LEADERS study assessed clinical outcomes after 4 years. The investigators found that the risk of ST was lower with BP-DES when compared with DP-DES controls, predominantly driven by a significantly lower risk of VLST (HR 0.22, 95%CI 0.08–0.61; *p* = 0.004) (Fig. 1A) [72]. Similar results were reported from a large metaanalysis, showing that BP-DES outperformed early-generation devices [73]. However, these benefits were less apparent when BP-DES were compared to newer generation devices (e.g. everolimus-eluting cobalt chromium DES). Furthermore, in the landmark analysis performed after 1 year, BP-DES were associated with an increased risk of death, compared with cobalt chromium everolimus-eluting stents. Subsequent meta-analyses have again shown conflicting results. In a study of 19,886 patients treated with either BP- or newer-generation DP-DES with mean follow-up of 26 months, the use of BP-DES showed no additional benefit nor harm, with a 1-year landmark analysis showing no reduction in VLST. Similar results were found regardless of strut thickness, stent platform, polymer, or drug-release kinetics (Fig. 1B). Note must be made however of the reasonably short mean duration follow-up and that VLST data were available in only 6 of the 12 included studies [74]. These disappointing findings replicated results of an earlier network meta-analysis of 63,242 patients undergoing DES implantation with a combination of early-, newer-generation or biodegradable polymer biolimus devices [75]. Despite widespread published non-inferiority data of BP-DES, it remains a matter of debate as to whether superiority will be shown or if clinical outcomes will improve, as the technology is further developed and follow-up extended.

#### Polymer-free drug-eluting stents

It may be argued that the best polymer for DES is in fact no polymer at all; consequently there has been a growing interest in



**Fig. 1.** Clinical outcomes following biodegradable drug-eluting stent implantation. (A) Kaplan–Meier curves illustrating the cumulative incidence of definite stent thrombosis in a pooled population receiving either durable or biodegradable polymer stents, with landmark analysis at 1 year [72]. (B) Forest plot illustrating the risk of VLST for biodegradable polymer in comparison with newer-generation durable polymer stents in a landmark analysis beyond 1 year [74]. BP, biodegradable polymer; DES, drug-eluting stent; DP, 'durable' polymer.

#### Table 2

Polymer-free stent characteristics.

Stent name	Manufacturer	Material	Drug	Strut thickness	Mechanism of drug delivery	
Yukon	Translumina	316L	Sirolimus	87 µm	Microporous stent surface	
BioFreedom	Biosensors	316L	Biolimus A9	199 µm	Microstructured abluminal stent surface	
Dual-DES	NA	316L	Sirolimus and probucol	87 µm	Micropores with shellac resin	
VESTAsync	MIV Therapeutics	316L	Sirolimus	65 µm	Microporous hydroxyapatite coating	
Drug Filled Stent (DFS)	Medtronic	CoCr	Sirolimus	NA	Diffusion from stent core	
316L, stainless steel; CoCr, cobalt chromium; NA, not available.						

the possibility of 'polymer-free' stents, focusing on novel approaches for coating stents with anti-restenotic agents. However, there remain significant manufacturing and engineering challenges to the development of polymer-free drug-eluting stents (PF-DES), principally relating to maintenance of drug concentration/elution over a protracted period when no polymer for carriage is present. Manufacturers have turned to innovative engineering solutions, including textured or nonporous metallic surfaces, crystallization, or even drug reservoirs [76]. Examples of platforms undergoing clinical evaluation are included in Table 2. More novel concepts are still under development and first-in-human studies of these devices are currently underway.

#### Yukon

The Yukon (Translumina, Hechingen, Germany) is a PF-DES with two components: a pre-mounted micro-structured stainless

steel microporous stent and coating device. The architecture of the microporous stent surface increases the drug reservoir capacity and permits a retarded drug release without obligatory polymer application. The cartridge holding the stent system is placed into the coating device and sirolimus is then delivered evenly to the microporous stent via a uniform jet system. Drug coating of the stent is performed at the hospital, with this technique permitting varied drug dosing according to physicians' wishes and needs. Pharmacokinetic assays have demonstrated that sirolimus is continuously eluted for >3 weeks, with more than two-thirds released in the first week. This methodology has been shown to be feasible and safe, demonstrating a dose-dependent efficacy and restenosis benefit at 1 year (25.9% with BMS to 18.9%, 17.2%, 14.7% with 0.5%, 1.0%, and 2.0% concentration sirolimus solution, respectively; p = 0.024) The need for TLR at 1-year follow-up was similarly significantly reduced (21.5% BMS vs. 8.8% for 2.0% sirolimus concentration, p = 0.006) [77]. Furthermore, a



**Fig. 2.** Next generation polymer-free stents. (A) The Drug Filled Stent (DFS, Medtronic, Santa Rosa, CA, USA) [93] (B) exhibits a hollow design with sustained drug elution through diffusion via (C) direct interaction with the vessel wall. (D) The BioFreedom drug-eluting stent platform (Biosensors Europe, Morges, Switzerland) as seen with electron microscopy, illustrating the highly texturized abluminal surface [85].

450 patient randomized trial found that the sirolimus-eluting Yukon PF-DES had similar effect to the paclitaxel-eluting DP-DES in their capacity to reduce ISR (14.2% vs. 15.5%, p = 0.73) and TLR (9.3% vs. 9.3%, p = NS) [78]. Extended follow-up to 5 years has supported the efficacy and safety of this stent platform [79].

Using the same stent platform and utilizing the capability to vary drug type and dosing, the ISAR-TEST-2 study randomized 1007 patients to receive the microporous stent backbone incorporating probucol and sirolimus (Dual DES) and compared against the DP-sirolimus- (Cypher) and zotarolimus-eluting (Endeavour) DES [80]. Probucol, a potent liposoluble antioxidant, has proven efficacy in both animal and clinical trials in reducing neointimal hyperplasia [81]. ISAR-TEST 2 found that binary restenosis was significantly lower in the Dual DES group compared with the Endeavour ZES (11.0% vs. 19.3%, *p* = 0.002), but comparable with Cypher SES (12.0%, p = 0.83 [80,82]. These trends were mirrored in the extent of LLL and TVR at 1-year across groups without difference in death, MI, or ST. At 2 years there were no significant differences in the safety profile between the three platforms; however, the Dual DES maintained an advantage with respect to binary restenosis and TLR compared with Cypher and Endeavor (p = 0.009 for both) [82]. More recently, the ISAR TEST-5 group randomized 3002 patients to treatment with the Dual DES, and found that it was non-inferior with respect to cardiac death, target-vessel MI, or TVR at 12 months (p for non-inferiority = 0.006) [83] and 5 years [84] when compared with zotarolimus-eluting device.

# BioFreedom

Building on the early success of the Biomatrix stent and its biodegradable polymer, the key feature of the BioFreedom PF-DES (Biosensors Europe) is that it has a selectively micro-structured surface that holds biolimus-A9 in the abluminal surface of its stainless steel structure (Fig. 2) [85]. A micro-abrasion process is used to texturize the surface, providing an effective means for anchoring the drug to the stent surface without polymer requirement [86]. The BioFreedom first-in-human randomized trial recruited 182 patients to receive the BioFreedom stent at either the standard (15.6  $\mu$ g/mm) or low dose (7.8 µg/mm) of biolimus, comparing both iterations with the DP paclitaxel-eluting Taxus Liberte (Boston Scientific) [87]. Instent LLL was non-inferior in the BioFreedom standard-dose group (p for inferiority = 0.001) with a trend toward superiority compared with Taxus at 12 months [medians 0.17 mm (0.09-0.39) vs. 0.35 mm (0.22-0.57), p for superiority = 0.11]. Safety and efficacy of the BioFreedom stent has been shown to 5 years with no significant difference in MACE between the groups and no ST occurring across all groups [88]. The platform was subsequently examined in 2466 patients at high-bleeding risk recruited to the LEADERS FREE trial [89]. In this pivotal study, patients were randomized to either BioFreedom or BMS (Gazelle), followed by 1 month only of dual antiplatelet therapy. The PF-DES outperformed BMS both in the primary safety endpoint (composite of death, MI, and ST) and efficacy endpoint (clinically driven TLR). Results of the real world e-Biomatrix all comers registry of 2365 patients enrolled from 42 centers replicated the results of the LEADERS FREE trial, showing similar results of MACE and ST at 1 and 2 years [90]. These results suggest a potential expanding indication for PF-DES to patient cohorts where premature discontinuation of dual anti-platelet therapy may be required or uncertain.

#### VESTAsync

The VESTAsync (MIV Therapeutics, Atlanta, GA, USA) is a hydroxyapatite, sirolimus-eluting PF-DES. It comprises a stainless

steel platform coated with microporous hydroxyapatite, serving as a drug carrier for the biocompatible sirolimus formulation. A potential advantage of hydroxyapatite is that it normally constitutes 70% natural bone, and therefore has intrinsic biocompatibility, with in vivo studies suggesting complete absorption at 1 year [86]. First-in-human evaluation of the VESTAsync stent involved treatment of 15 patients with follow-up at 4, 9, and 12 months [91]. LLL was assessed angiographically and with IVUS (% stent obstruction). At 4 months there was no significant increase in neointimal hyperplasia, with  $0.30 \pm 0.25$  mm LLL and  $2.6 \pm 2.2\%$ volume obstruction. VESTAsync II, a proof-of-concept trial including 75 patients randomized in a 2:1 fashion again demonstrated the sustained efficacy of this PF-DES, however larger trials with more complex lesions are needed to confirm these results [92].

#### Drug Filled Stent (DFS)

The Drug Filled Stent (DFS) (Medtronic) has a unique design concept that incorporates a sinusoidal wire design with a helical wrap system, similar to Medtronic's trademark Resolute Integrity platform. The DFS utilizes a tri-layered continuous wire with an outer cobalt chromium layer, middle tantalum layer which increases radio-opacity, and inner continuous lumen. In contrast to the Integrity platform, the architecture is hollow, with laser drilled elution holes on the abluminal surface, and the core of the device contains a reservoir of sirolimus, delivered to the arterial wall by way of diffusion (Fig. 2). The first-inhuman ReVolution trial studied 101 patients treated with DFS in two cohorts and has recently reported 9-month results demonstrating in-stent LLL of  $0.26 \pm 0.28$  mm compared with  $0.36 \pm 0.52 \text{ mm}$  for Resolute-treated historical controls [93]. Larger-scale clinical trials with longer follow-up are required however to determine whether these results translate into more favorable clinical outcomes.

#### Conclusions

Although early- and newer-generation metallic DES systems exhibit early favorable clinical outcomes, their long-term performance beyond 1 year is somewhat questionable and improvements in device safety and efficacy are undoubtedly required. The development of biodegradable and polymer-free metallic stent platforms represents novel solutions to this clinical problem. Early randomized trials using these technologies have shown equivalent short-term rates of restenosis and clinical outcomes, when compared with several existing DES platforms. Despite these encouraging results, concerns remain over device safety and there remains a lack of convincing data suggesting that these devices have clear advantages over existing DP-DES platforms. Long-term follow-up in larger and more diverse patient populations is now required to fully assess whether these technologies fulfill their potential to reduce the long-term risk of VLST and late DES failure.

#### Funding

LMM is supported by a Robertson Family Research Cardiologist Fellowship.

AJB is supported through a Monash University Early Career Practitioner Fellowship.

### **Conflicts of interest**

NEJW has acted as a consultant to Abbott Vascular. AJB has received speaker fees from St Jude Medical. Other authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

#### References

- Sigwart U, Puel J, Mirkovitch V, Joffre F, Kappenberger L. Intravascular stents to prevent occlusion and re-stenosis after transluminal angioplasty. N Engl J Med 1987;316:701–6.
- [2] Rathore S, Kinoshita Y, Terashima M, Katoh O, Matsuo H, Tanaka N, et al. A comparison of clinical presentations, angiographic patterns and outcomes of in-stent restenosis between bare metal stents and drug eluting stents. Euro-Intervention 2010;5:841–6.
- [3] Kasaoka S, Tobis JM, Akiyama T, Reimers B, Di Mario C, Wong ND, et al. Angiographic and intravascular ultrasound predictors of in-stent restenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998;32:1630–5.
- [4] Stettler C, Wandel S, Allemann S, Kastrati A, Morice MC, Schömig A, et al. Outcomes associated with drug-eluting and bare-metal stents: a collaborative network meta-analysis. Lancet 2007;370:937–48.
- [5] Moses JW, Leon MB, Popma JJ, Fitzgerald PJ, Holmes DR, O'Shaughnessy C, et al. Sirolimus-eluting stents versus standard stents in patients with stenosis in a native coronary artery. N Engl J Med 2003;349:1315–23.
- [6] Kaiser C, Brunner-La Rocca HP, Buser PT, Bonetti PO, Osswald S, Linka A, et al. Incremental cost-effectiveness of drug-eluting stents compared with a thirdgeneration bare-metal stent in a real-world setting: randomised Basel Stent Kosten Effektivitats Trial (BASKET). Lancet 2005;366:921–9.
- [7] Kastrati A, Mehilli J, Pache J, Kaiser C, Valgimigli M, Kelbaek H, et al. Analysis of 14 trials comparing sirolimus-eluting stents with bare-metal stents. N Engl J Med 2007;356:1030–9.
- [8] Stone GW, Moses JW, Ellis SG, Schofer J, Dawkins KD, Morice M-C, et al. Safety and efficacy of sirolimus- and paclitaxel-eluting coronary stents. N Engl J Med 2007;356:998–1008.
- [9] Babapulle MN, Joseph L, Bélisle P, Brophy JM, Eisenberg MJ. A hierarchical Bayesian meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials of drug-eluting stents. Lancet 2004;364:583–91.
- [10] Wang F, Stouffer GA, Waxman S, Uretsky BF. Late coronary stent thrombosis: early vs. late stent thrombosis in the stent era. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2002;55:142–7.
- [11] Schulz S, Schuster T, Mehilli J, Byrne RA, Ellert J, Massberg S, et al. Stent thrombosis after drug-eluting stent implantation: incidence, timing, and relation to discontinuation of clopidogrel therapy over a 4-year period. Eur Heart J 2009;30:2714–21.
- [12] Kimura T, Morimoto T, Nakagawa Y, Kawai K, Miyazaki S, Muramatsu T, et al. Very late stent thrombosis and late target lesion revascularization after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation: five-year outcome of the j-Cypher Registry. Circulation 2012;125:584–91.
- [13] Ong AT, McFadden EP, Regar E, de Jaegere PP, van Domburg RT, Serruys PW. Late angiographic stent thrombosis (LAST) events with drug-eluting stents. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;45:2088–92.
- [14] Kandzari DE, Leon MB, Meredith I, Fajadet J, Wijns W, Mauri L. Final 5-year outcomes from the Endeavor zotarolimus-eluting stent clinical trial program: comparison of safety and efficacy with first-generation drug-eluting and baremetal stents. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2013;6:504–12.
- [15] Yamaji K, Kimura T, Morimoto T, Nakagawa Y, Inoue K, Soga Y, et al. Very longterm (15 to 20 years) clinical and angiographic outcome after coronary bare metal stent implantation. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2010;3:468–75.
- [16] Boden WE, O'Rourke RA, Teo KK, Hartigan PM, Maron DJ, Kostuk WJ, et al. Optimal medical therapy with or without PCI for stable coronary disease. N Engl J Med 2007;356:1503–16.
- [17] Farooq V, Gogas BD, Serruys PW. Restenosis: delineating the numerous causes of drug-eluting stent restenosis. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2011;4:195–205.
- [18] Fujii K, Mintz GS, Kobayashi Y, Carlier SG, Takebayashi H, Yasuda T, et al. Contribution of stent underexpansion to recurrence after sirolimuseluting stent implantation for in-stent restenosis. Circulation 2004;109: 1085–8.
- [19] Uren NG, Schwarzacher SP, Metz JA, Lee DP, Honda Y, Yeung AC, et al. Predictors and outcomes of stent thrombosis: an intravascular ultrasound registry. Eur Heart J 2002;23:124–32.
- [20] Calvert PA, Brown AJ, Hoole SP, Obaid DR, West NE, Bennett MR. Geographical miss is associated with vulnerable plaque and increased major adverse cardiovascular events in patients with myocardial infarction. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2016;88:340–7.
- [21] Costa MA, Angiolillo DJ, Tannenbaum M, Driesman M, Chu A, Patterson J, et al. Impact of stent deployment procedural factors on long-term effectiveness and safety of sirolimus-eluting stents (final results of the multicenter prospective STLLR trial). Am J Cardiol 2008;101:1704–11.
- [22] Nakazawa G, Finn AV, Vorpahl M, Ladich E, Kutys R, Balazs I, et al. Incidence and predictors of drug-eluting stent fracture in human coronary artery a pathologic analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;54:1924–31.
- [23] Wiemer M, Butz T, Schmidt W, Schmitz KP, Horstkotte D, Langer C. Scanning electron microscopic analysis of different drug eluting stents after failed implantation: from nearly undamaged to major damaged polymers. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2010;75:905–11.
- [24] Pache J, Kastrati A, Mehilli J, Schuhlen H, Dotzer F, Hausleiter J, et al. Intracoronary stenting and angiographic results: strut thickness effect on restenosis outcome (ISAR-STEREO-2) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41: 1283–8.
- [25] Kastrati A, Mehilli J, Dirschinger J, Dotzer F, Schuhlen H, Neumann FJ, et al. Intracoronary stenting and angiographic results: strut thickness effect on restenosis outcome (ISAR-STEREO) trial. Circulation 2001;103:2816–21.

- [26] Koskinas KC, Chatzizisis YS, Antoniadis AP, Giannoglou GD. Role of endothelial shear stress in stent restenosis and thrombosis: pathophysiologic mechanisms and implications for clinical translation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012;59:1337–49.
- [27] Ha FJ, Giblett JP, Nerlekar N, Cameron JD, Meredith IT, West NEJ, et al. Optical coherence tomography guided percutaneous coronary intervention. Heart Lung Circ 2017;26:1267–76.
- [28] Nakazawa G, Vorpahl M, Finn AV, Narula J, Virmani R. One step forward and two steps back with drug-eluting-stents: from preventing restenosis to causing late thrombosis and nouveau atherosclerosis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2009;2:625–8.
- [29] Byrne RA, Joner M, Kastrati A. Stent thrombosis and restenosis: what have we learned and where are we going? The Andreas Gruntzig Lecture ESC 2014. Eur Heart J 2015;36:3320–31.
- [30] Nebeker JR, Virmani R, Bennett CL, Hoffman JM, Samore MH, Alvarez J, et al. Hypersensitivity cases associated with drug-eluting coronary stents: a review of available cases from the Research on Adverse Drug Events and Reports (RADAR) project. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;47:175–81.
- [31] Martin D, Boyle F. Sequential structural and fluid dynamics analysis of balloonexpandable coronary stents: a multivariable statistical analysis. Cardiovasc Eng Technol 2015;6:314–28.
- [32] Joner M, Finn AV, Farb A, Mont EK, Kolodgie FD, Ladich E, et al. Pathology of drug-eluting stents in humans: delayed healing and late thrombotic risk. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;48:193–202.
- [33] Luscher TF, Steffel J, Eberli FR, Joner M, Nakazawa G, Tanner FC, et al. Drugeluting stent and coronary thrombosis: biological mechanisms and clinical implications. Circulation 2007;115:1051–8.
- [34] Lagerqvist B, James SK, Stenestrand U, Lindbäck J, Nilsson T, Wallentin L. Longterm outcomes with drug-eluting stents versus bare-metal stents in Sweden. N Engl J Med 2007;356:1009–19.
- [35] Ostojic M, Sagic D, Jung R, Zhang YL, Nedeljkovic M, Mangovski L, et al. The pharmacokinetics of biolimus A9 after elution from the Nobori stent in patients with coronary artery disease: the NOBORI PK study. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2008;72:901–8.
- [36] Windecker S, Serruys PW, Wandel S, Buszman P, Trznadel S, Linke A, et al. Biolimus-eluting stent with biodegradable polymer versus sirolimus-eluting stent with durable polymer for coronary revascularisation (LEADERS): a randomised non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2008;372:1163–73.
- [37] Stefanini GG, Kalesan B, Serruys PW, Heg D, Buszman P, Linke A, et al. Longterm clinical outcomes of biodegradable polymer biolimus-eluting stents versus durable polymer sirolimus-eluting stents in patients with coronary artery disease (LEADERS): 4 year follow-up of a randomised non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2011;378:1940–8.
- [38] Serruys PW, Farooq V, Kalesan B, de Vries T, Buszman P, Linke A, et al. Improved safety and reduction in stent thrombosis associated with biodegradable polymer-based biolimus-eluting stents versus durable polymer-based sirolimus-eluting stents in patients with coronary artery disease: final 5-year report of the LEADERS (Limus Eluted From A Durable Versus ERodable Stent Coating) randomized, noninferiority trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2013;6:777–89.
- [39] Barlis P, Regar E, Serruys PW, Dimopoulos K, van der Giessen WJ, van Geuns R-JM, et al. An optical coherence tomography study of a biodegradable vs. durable polymer-coated limus-eluting stent: a LEADERS trial sub-study. Eur Heart J 2010;31:165-76.
- [40] Chevalier B, Serruys PW, Silber S, Garcia E, Suryapranata H, Hauptmann K, et al. Randomised comparison of Nobori, biolimus A9-eluting coronary stent with a Taxus(R), paclitaxel-eluting coronary stent in patients with stenosis in native coronary arteries: the Nobori 1 trial. EuroIntervention 2007;2:426–34.
- [41] Danzi GB, Piccolo R, Chevalier B, Urban P, Fath-Ordoubadi F, Carrie D, et al. Fiveyear clinical performance of a biodegradable polymer-coated biolimus-eluting stent in unselected patients. Heart 2017;103:111–6.
- [42] Vlachojannis GJ, Smits PC, Hofma SH, Togni M, Vazquez N, Valdes M, et al. Biodegradable polymer biolimus-eluting stents versus durable polymer everolimus-eluting stents in patients with coronary artery disease: final 5-year report from the COMPARE II Trial (Abluminal Biodegradable Polymer Biolimus-Eluting Stent Versus Durable Polymer Everolimus-Eluting Stent). JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017;10:1215–21.
- [43] Natsuaki M, Kozuma K, Morimoto T, Kadota K, Muramatsu T, Nakagawa Y, et al. Final 3-year outcome of a randomized trial comparing second-generation drug-eluting stents using either biodegradable polymer or durable polymer: NOBORI biolimus-eluting versus XIENCE/PROMUS everolimus-eluting stent trial. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2015;8:e002817.
- [44] Hamon M, Niculescu R, Deleanu D, Dorobantu M, Weissman NJ, Waksman R. Clinical and angiographic experience with a third-generation drug-eluting Orsiro stent in the treatment of single de novo coronary artery lesions (BIO-FLOW-I): a prospective, first-in-man study. EuroIntervention 2013;8:1006–11.
- [45] Windecker S, Haude M, Neumann FJ, Stangl K, Witzenbichler B, Slagboom T, et al. Comparison of a novel biodegradable polymer sirolimus-eluting stent with a durable polymer everolimus-eluting stent: results of the randomized BIOFLOW-II trial. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2015;8(2):e001441.
- [46] Pilgrim T, Heg D, Roffi M, Tuller D, Muller O, Vuilliomenet A, et al. Ultrathin strut biodegradable polymer sirolimus-eluting stent versus durable polymer everolimus-eluting stent for percutaneous coronary revascularisation (BIO-SCIENCE): a randomised, single-blind, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2014;384: 2111–22.
- [47] Zbinden R, Piccolo R, Heg D, Roffi M, Kurz DJ, Muller O, et al. Ultrathin strut biodegradable polymer sirolimus-eluting stent versus durable-polymer

everolimus-eluting stent for percutaneous coronary revascularization: 2-year results of the BIOSCIENCE trial. J Am Heart Assoc 2016;5:e003255.

- [48] Giblett JP, Brown AJ, Keevil H, Jaworski C, Hoole SP, West NE. Implantation of bioresorbable vascular scaffolds following acute coronary syndrome is associated with reduced early neointimal growth and strut coverage. EuroIntervention 2016;12:724–33.
- [49] Waltenberger J, Brachmann J, van der Heyden J, Richardt G, Frobert O, Seige M, et al. Real-world experience with a novel biodegradable polymer sirolimuseluting stent: twelve-month results of the BIOFLOW-III registry. EuroIntervention 2016;11:1106–10.
- [50] von Birgelen C, Kok MM, van der Heijden LC, Danse PW, Schotborgh CE, Scholte M, et al. Very thin strut biodegradable polymer everolimus-eluting and sirolimus-eluting stents versus durable polymer zotarolimus-eluting stents in allcomers with coronary artery disease (BIO-RESORT): a three-arm, randomised, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2016;388:2607–17.
- [51] Teeuwen K, van der Schaaf RJ, Adriaenssens T, Koolen JJ, Smits PC, Henriques JP, et al. Randomized multicenter trial investigating angiographic outcomes of hybrid sirolimus-eluting stents with biodegradable polymer compared with everolimus-eluting stents with durable polymer in chronic total occlusions: the PRISON IV Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017;10:133–43.
- [52] Meredith IT, Verheye S, Dubois CL, Dens J, Fajadet J, Carrie D, et al. Primary endpoint results of the EVOLVE trial: a randomized evaluation of a novel bioabsorbable polymer-coated, everolimus-eluting coronary stent. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012;59:1362–70.
- [53] Meredith IT, Verheye S, Weissman NJ, Barragan P, Scott D, Chavarri MV, et al. Six-month IVUS and two-year clinical outcomes in the EVOLVE FHU trial: a randomised evaluation of a novel bioabsorbable polymer-coated, everolimuseluting stent. EuroIntervention 2013;9:308–15.
- [54] Kereiakes DJ, Meredith IT, Windecker S, Lee Jobe R, Mehta SR, Sarembock IJ, et al. Efficacy and safety of a novel bioabsorbable polymer-coated, everolimuseluting coronary stent: the EVOLVE II Randomized Trial. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2015;8:e002372.
- [55] Sarno G, Lagerqvist B, Olivecrona G, Varenhorst C, Danielewicz M, Hambraeus K, et al. Real-life clinical outcomes with everolimus eluting platinum chromium stent with an abluminal biodegradable polymer in patients from the Swedish Coronary Angiography and Angioplasty Registry (SCAAR). Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2017;90:881–7.
- [56] Dani S, Costa RA, Joshi H, Shah J, Pandya R, Virmani R, et al. First-in-human evaluation of the novel BioMime sirolimus-eluting coronary stent with bioabsorbable polymer for the treatment of single de novo lesions located in native coronary vessels – results from the meriT-1 trial. EuroIntervention 2013;9: 493–500.
- [57] Jain RK, Chakravarthi P, Shetty R, Ramchandra P, Polavarapu RS, Wander GS, et al. One-year outcomes of a BioMime sirolimus-eluting coronary stent system with a biodegradable polymer in all-comers coronary artery disease patients: the MeriT-3 study. Indian Heart J 2016;68:599–603.
- [58] Serruys PW, Garg S, Abizaid A, Ormiston J, Windecker S, Verheye S, et al. A randomised comparison of novolimus-eluting and zotarolimus-eluting coronary stents: 9-month follow-up results of the EXCELLA II study. EuroIntervention 2010;6:195–205.
- [59] Iqbal J, Verheye S, Abizaid A, Ormiston J, de Vries T, Morrison L, et al. DESyne novolimus-eluting coronary stent is superior to Endeavor zotarolimus-eluting coronary stent at five-year follow-up: final results of the multicentre EXCELLA II randomised controlled trial. EuroIntervention 2016;12:e1336–42.
- [60] Dani S, Kukreja N, Parikh P, Joshi H, Prajapati J, Jain S, et al. Biodegradablepolymer-based, sirolimus-eluting Supralimus stent: 6-month angiographic and 30-month clinical follow-up results from the series I prospective study. EuroIntervention 2008;4:59–63.
- [61] Lemos PA, Moulin B, Perin MA, Oliveira LA, Arruda JA, Lima VC, et al. Randomized evaluation of two drug-eluting stents with identical metallic platform and biodegradable polymer but different agents (paclitaxel or sirolimus) compared against bare stents: 1-year results of the PAINT trial. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2009;74:665–73.
- [62] Banker D, Ahuja A, Sanadhya H, Purohit C, Chandra S, Sethi R, et al. Clinical performance of biodegradable polymer-coated sirolimus-eluting stents in unselected real-world population with coronary artery disease: results from the multicenter CORE Registry. Minerva Cardioangiol 2016;64:9–14.
- [63] Wijns W, Suttorp MJ, Zagozdzon L, Morice MC, McClean D, Stella P, et al. Evaluation of a crystalline sirolimus-eluting coronary stent with a bioabsorbable polymer designed for rapid dissolution: two-year outcomes from the DESSOLVE I and II trials. EuroIntervention 2015;11(5).
- [64] Wijns W, Vrolix M, Verheye S, Schoors D, Slagboom T, Gosselink M, et al. Randomised study of a bioabsorbable polymer-coated sirolimus-eluting stent: results of the DESSOLVE II trial. EuroIntervention 2015;10:1383–90.
- [65] Zhang H, Wang X, Deng W, Wang S, Ge J, Toft E. Randomized clinical trial comparing abluminal biodegradable polymer sirolimus-eluting stents with durable polymer sirolimus-eluting stents: nine months angiographic and 5year clinical outcomes. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95:e4820.
- [66] Shetty R, Prajapati J, Pai U, Shetty K. Preliminary evaluation of clinical and angiographic outcomes with biodegradable polymer coated sirolimus-eluting stent in de novo coronary artery disease: results of the MANIPAL-FLEX Study. Scientifica (Cairo) 2016;2016:9324279.
- [67] Saito S, Valdes-Chavarri M, Richardt G, Moreno R, Iniguez Romo A, Barbato E, et al. A randomized, prospective, intercontinental evaluation of a bioresorbable polymer sirolimus-eluting coronary stent system: the CENTURY II (Clinical Evaluation of New Terumo Drug-Eluting Coronary Stent System in the

Treatment of Patients with Coronary Artery Disease) trial. Eur Heart J 2014;35:2021–31.

- [68] Kuramitsu S, Kazuno Y, Sonoda S, Domei T, Jinnouchi H, Yamaji K, et al. Vascular response to bioresorbable polymer sirolimus-eluting stent vs. permanent polymer everolimus-eluting stent at 9-month follow-up: an optical coherence tomography sub-study from the CENTURY II trial. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2016;17:34–40.
- [69] Lesiak M, Araszkiewicz A, Grajek S, Colombo A, Lalmand J, Carstensen S, et al. Long coronary lesions treated with thin strut bioresorbable polymer drug eluting stent: experience from multicentre randomized CENTURY II study. J Interv Cardiol 2016;29:47–56.
- [70] Orvin K, Carrie D, Richardt G, Desmet W, Assali A, Werner G, et al. Comparison of sirolimus eluting stent with bioresorbable polymer to everolimus eluting stent with permanent polymer in bifurcation lesions: results from CENTURY II trial. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2016;87:1092–100.
- [71] Wohrle J, Markovic S, Rottbauer W, Muramatsu T, Kadota K, Vazquez-Gonzalez N, et al. Bioresorbable polymer sirolimus-eluting coronary stent compared with permanent polymer everolimus-eluting coronary stent implantation for treatment of small vessel coronary artery disease: CENTURY II trial. Euro-Intervention 2016;12:e167–74.
- [72] Stefanini GG, Byrne RA, Serruys PW, de Waha A, Meier B, Massberg S, et al. Biodegradable polymer drug-eluting stents reduce the risk of stent thrombosis at 4 years in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: a pooled analysis of individual patient data from the ISAR-TEST 3, ISAR-TEST 4, and LEADERS randomized trials. Eur Heart J 2012;33:1214–22.
- [73] Bangalore S, Toklu B, Amoroso N, Fusaro M, Kumar S, Hannan EL, et al. Bare metal stents, durable polymer drug eluting stents, and biodegradable polymer drug eluting stents for coronary artery disease: mixed treatment comparison meta-analysis. BMJ 2013;347:f6625.
- [74] El-Hayek G, Bangalore S, Casso Dominguez A, Devireddy C, Jaber W, Kumar G, et al. Meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials comparing biodegradable polymer drug-eluting stent to second-generation durable polymer drug-eluting stents. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017;10:462–73.
- [75] Navarese EP, Tandjung K, Claessen B, Andreotti F, Kowalewski M, Kandzari DE, et al. Safety and efficacy outcomes of first and second generation durable polymer drug eluting stents and biodegradable polymer biolimus eluting stents in clinical practice: comprehensive network meta-analysis. BMJ 2013;347:66530.
- [76] Chen W, Habraken TC, Hennink WE, Kok RJ. Polymer-free drug-eluting stents: an overview of coating strategies and comparison with polymer-coated drugeluting stents. Bioconjug Chem 2015;26:1277–88.
- [77] Hausleiter J, Kastrati A, Wessely R, Dibra A, Mehilli J, Schratzenstaller T, et al. Prevention of restenosis by a novel drug-eluting stent system with a doseadjustable, polymer-free, on-site stent coating. Eur Heart J 2005;26:1475–81.
- [78] Mehilli J, Kastrati A, Wessely R, Dibra A, Hausleiter J, Jaschke B, et al. Randomized trial of a nonpolymer-based rapamycin-eluting stent versus a polymerbased paclitaxel-eluting stent for the reduction of late lumen loss. Circulation 2006;113:273–9.
- [79] King L, Byrne RA, Mehilli J, Schomig A, Kastrati A, Pache J. Five-year clinical outcomes of a polymer-free sirolimus-eluting stent versus a permanent polymer paclitaxel-eluting stent: final results of the intracoronary stenting and angiographic restenosis – test equivalence between two drug-eluting stents (ISAR-TEST) trial. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2013;81(1):E23–8.

- [80] Byrne RA, Mehilli J, lijima R, Schulz S, Pache J, Seyfarth M, et al. A polymer-free dual drug-eluting stent in patients with coronary artery disease: a randomized trial vs. polymer-based drug-eluting stents. Eur Heart J 2009;30:923–31.
- [81] Tardif JC, Cote G, Lesperance J, Bourassa M, Lambert J, Doucet S, et al. Probucol and multivitamins in the prevention of restenosis after coronary angioplasty. Multivitamins and Probucol Study Group. N Engl J Med 1997;337: 365–72.
- [82] Byrne RA, Kastrati A, Tiroch K, Schulz S, Pache J, Pinieck S, et al. 2-Year clinical and angiographic outcomes from a randomized trial of polymer-free dual drug-eluting stents versus polymer-based Cypher and Endeavor [corrected] drug-eluting stents. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:2536–43.
- [83] Massberg S, Byrne RA, Kastrati A, Schulz S, Pache J, Hausleiter J, et al. Polymerfree sirolimus- and probucol-eluting versus new generation zotarolimuseluting stents in coronary artery disease: the Intracoronary Stenting and Angiographic Results: Test Efficacy of Sirolimus- and Probucol-Eluting versus Zotarolimus-eluting Stents (ISAR-TEST 5) trial. Circulation 2011;124:624–32.
- [84] Kufner S, Sorges J, Mehilli J, Cassese S, Repp J, Wiebe J, et al. Randomized trial of polymer-free sirolimus- and probucol-eluting stents versus durable polymer zotarolimus-eluting stents: 5-year results of the ISAR-TEST-5 Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016;9:784–92.
- [85] Harada Y, Kastrati A. Interventional cardiology: polymer-free drug-eluting stents – a safe and effective option for ACS. Nat Rev Cardiol 2016;13:447–8.
- [86] Abizaid A, Costa Jr JR. New drug-eluting stents: an overview on biodegradable and polymer-free next-generation stent systems. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2010;3:384–93.
- [87] Costa RA, Abizaid A, Mehran R, Schofer J, Schuler GC, Hauptmann KE, et al. Polymer-free biolimus A9-coated stents in the treatment of de novo coronary lesions: 4- and 12-month angiographic follow-up and final 5-year clinical outcomes of the prospective, multicenter BioFreedom FIM clinical trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016;9(1):51–64.
- [88] Costa RA, Abizaid A, Mehran R, Schofer J, Schuler GC, Hauptmann KE, et al. Polymer-free biolimus A9-coated stents in the treatment of de novo coronary lesions 4- and 12-month angiographic follow-up and final 5-year clinical outcomes of the prospective, multicenter BioFreedom FIM clinical trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016;9:51–4.
- [89] Urban P, Meredith IT, Abizaid A, Pocock SJ, Carrie D, Naber C, et al. Polymer-free drug-coated coronary stents in patients at high bleeding risk. N Engl J Med 2015;373:2038–47.
- [90] Maupas E, Lipiecki J, Levy R, Faurie B, Karsenty B, Moulichon ME, et al. Safety and efficacy outcomes of 3rd generation DES in an all-comer population of patients undergoing PCI: 12-month and 24-month results of the e-Biomatrix French registry. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2017;90:890–7.
- [91] Costa Jr JR, Abizaid A, Costa R, Feres F, Tanajura LF, Maldonado G, et al. 1-Year results of the hydroxyapatite polymer-free sirolimus-eluting stent for the treatment of single de novo coronary lesions: the VESTASYNC I trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2009;2:422–7.
- [92] Costa Jr JR, Oliveira BA, Abizaid A, Costa R, Perin M, Chamie D, et al. Clinical, angiographic, and intravascular ultrasound results of the VestSaync II trial. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2014;84:1073–9.
- [93] Worthley SG, Abizaid A, Kirtane AJ, Simon DJ, Windecker S, Brar S, et al. Firstin-human evaluation of a novel polymer-free drug-filled stent: angiographic, IVUS, OCT, and clinical outcomes from the RevElution Study. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017;10:147–56.